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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AREF INVESTMENT GROUP
S.A.K. (CLOSED)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) (the “Parent
Company”) and its subsidiarics (coliectively “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of income, comsolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilied our ather
ethical responsibitities in accordance with the IESBA Code, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Geing Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which states that the Group is significantly
exposed to Islamic finance payables and currently the Group is unable to meet the principal and finance cost
instalment payments. Further, the Group’s accumulated losses exceeds 75% of paid up share capital. These
conditions, along with other matters set forth in Note 2 indicate the existence of a material uncerfainty that may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Cur opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to:

(i) Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, which states that Munshaat Real Estate Projects Company
K.5.C.P. (a subsidiary of the Parent Company or ‘Munshaat’) has received a tax demand notice amounting
to SAR 1,891 million (equivalent to KD 153 million) from the General Authority of Zakat and Tax
(‘GAZT"), Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“tax claim™). In response to the tax claim, Munshaat has filed an
objection letter with GAZT. Based on the advice from the tax consultant, the management of Munshaat
has estiniated and recorded a potential liability against the tax claim representing Zakat, withholding tax
and refated penalties in the consolidated financial statements. Notwithstanding the above facts, there is a
significant material uncertainty as to the outcome of the tax claim. The provision recognized in the books
as at 31 December 2016 represents the best estimate from the management of Munshaat and as recorded
by the Group.

(i)  Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes that, as at the date of these consolidated
financial statements, the contractor of one of the properties of Munshaat in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has
claimed an amount of SAR 501 million (equivalent to KD 41 million) from Munshaat and Munshaat has
counter claimed an amount of SAR 627 million (equivalent to KID 51 million) on the same contractor for
the delay in completing the project. The claim is currently under arbitration with the Saudi Arbitration
Commiittee. The management of Munshaat, based on the advice from an independent legal counsel,
believes that the outcome of the arbitration ruling would most probably be in favour of Munshaat and hence
no provision has been made for this claim in the consclidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AREF INVESTMENT GROUP
S.AK. (CLOSED) (CONTINUED)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements {continued)

Emphasis of Matter (continued)

(iii) Note 10, to the consolidated financial statements which describes the uncertainty related to the final
outcome of a draft expropriation decree published in relation to a real estate development property owned
by the Group in Morocco,

(iv) Note 10, to the consolidated financial statements which describes the uncertainty related to the final
outcome of an ongoing lawsuit in relation to a real estate property owned by one of the subsidiaries of the
Group.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either infends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but o do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opition.
Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstaterments can arise from frand or etror and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements,

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professionat scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
approptiate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control,

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management,

» Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as & going concern,



Iz
1
.’.
.

s

Middle East

Barrpan ~ intemationd fecountina

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AREF INVESTMENT GROUP
S.A.K, (CL.OSED) (CONTINUED)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements {consolidated)

+ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controf that we identify
during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated
finanoial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to
these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that, we obtained all the
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements
incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No.1 of 2016, as amended, and its executive
regulations and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory
was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No.1 of
2016, as amended, and its executive regulations nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and
Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2016 that might have had a material effect
on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not hecome aware of any violations of the provisions
of Law Ne. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of
banking business, and its related regulations, or of the provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010, as amended, concerning the
Capital Markets Authority and its refated regulations during the year ended 31 December 2016 that might have had
a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial position.

s é <L_~’

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI ALT A ATL-HASAWI

LICENCE NO. 68 A LICENCE NO. 30 A -

EY RODL MIDDLE EAST

AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS BURGAN - INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

5 September 2017
Kuwait



Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Operating revenues
Operating costs

Gross (loss) profit

Income

Islamic finance income

Net gain (Joss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or
Dividend income

Net management and consultancy fees

Income from financial assets available for sale
Income from investment properties

Share of results of associates and joint ventures
Gain from extinguishment of financial liabilities
Net gain on business combination

Gain on sale of property and equipment

Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Foreign exchange (loss) gain

Other income

Expenses

Islamic finance costs

Staff salaries and benefits

General and administration expenses
Net impairment losses

(Loss) profit for the year hefore taxation

Taxation

(Loss) profit for the year

Aftributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

Notes

13
14
15

16
12

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2016 2015
KD KD
37,250,733 31,015,782
(39,076,555)  (26,716,650)
(1,825,822) 4,299,132
56,994 85,603
656,389 (412,065)
410,134 934,842
269,711 821,397
1,784,962 1,128,005
1,151,964 395,828
(1,270,199) 4,250,988
. 3,752,978
. 439,168
. 1,006,441
855,124 -
(1,487,283) 964,391
948,147 894,134
1,550,121 18,560,842
5,427,284 4,957,472
4,353,885 5,068,333
2,776,411 3,995,993
8,761,641 1,957,933
21,319,221 15,979,731
(19,769,100) 2,581,111
(1,761,630) (1,545,191)
(21,530,730) 1,035,920
(12,994,701) 399,638
(8,536,029) 636,282
(21,530,730) 1,035,920

i



Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes KD KD
{Loss) profit for the year (21,530,730) 1,035,920
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Other comprehensive (loss) income to be reclassified to consolidated
income statement.
- Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (4,980,398) 255,991
P Hyperinflation adjustment on associate 15 6,029,602 2,220,006
o Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale 624,922 75,300
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 15 45,913 223,183
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to consolidated
income statement in subsequent periods 1,720,039 2,774,480
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to consolidated
income statement:
Revaluation of Ieasehold property and prepaid operating lease rights 11,12 1,542,141 1,573,381
i Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to
i consolidated income statement in subsequent periods 1,542,141 1,573,381
Total other comprehensive income for the year 3,262,180 4,347 861
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (18,268,550) 5,383,781
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company (8,745,299) 3,059,587
Non-controlling interests (9,523,251) 2,324,194

(18,268,550) 5,383,781

The attached notes | to 27 form part of these consolidated financial statements,
5
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Aref Investment Group S.A XK. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2016

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these consolidated financial statements,

2016 2015
Notes KD KD
ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 43,621,704 43,518,142
Real estate development projects and inventories 10 16,132,058 20,284,422
Leasehold properties 11 195,399,690 207,191,009
Accounts receivable and other assets 12 27,561,269 31,510,247
Financial assets at fair value through profit or {oss 4,569,703 3,907,584
Financial assets avaitable for sale 13 11,664,745 13,807,979
Investment properties 14 52,783,078 55,267,493
Investment in associates and joint ventures 15 29,520,732 49,851,170
Property and equipment 16 34,967,794 36,999,875
Disposal group held for sale 7 18,391,800 -
TOTAL ASSETS 434,612,573 462,338,021
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Islamic finance payables 17 255,243,157 254,687,252
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18 63,242,305 69,653,150
TOTAL LIABILITIES 318,485,462 324,340,402
EQUITY
Share capital 19 22,885,937 22,885,937
Share premium 371,450 371,450
Treasury shares (371,450} (371,450)
Statutory reserve 20 2,284,344 2,284,344
Reserve of disposal group held for sale (827,515) -
Revaluation reserve 8,694,993 8,740,052
Cumulative changes in fair values 1,793,795 1,122,960
Foreign currency translation reserve 230,221 (3,496,281)
Accumulated losses (18,192,697) (5,732,519)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 16,869,080 25,805,393
Non-controlling interests 99,258,031 112,192,226
TOTAL EQUITY 116,127,111 137,997,619
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 434,612,573 462,338,021
. - ~
S e ———
T NI~
Khaled Yousif Al Shamlan Emad Yousef
Chairman Chief Executive
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before taxation and directors’ remuneration from ,
continuing operations (19,769,100) 2,581,111
Adjustments for:
Net (gain) loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (656,389) 412,065
Dividend income {416,134) (934,842)
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 15 1,270,199 (4,250,988)
Income from financial assets available for sale (1,784,962) (1,128,005)
Change in fair values of investment propetties 14 2,283,634 2,095,292
Gain on extinguishment of a financial liability 18 - (3,752,978}
Istamic finance costs 5427,284 4,957,472
5 Amortisation of leasehold property 11 13,761,043 9,599,875
Net impairment loss 5 8,761,641 1,957,933
Depreciation and amortisation 1,045,989 318,233
Gain on sale property and equipment - (1,006,441)
Provision for end of service benefits 401,563 478,409
oy Gain on business combination 6 - (439,168)
P Gain on sale of a subsidiary 12 (855,124) -
) 9,475,644 10,887,968
: Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Real estate development projects 1,188,758 2,304,239
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (47,939
Accounts receivables and other assets 2,927,278 2,084,505
i End of service benefits paid (70,298) (159,980)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (8,503,743) 10,218,199
: Net cash flows from operating activities 5,017,639 25,286,992
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
& Dividend income 410,134 934,842
Net movement in financial assets available for sale - -
Sale of financial assets available for sale 2,569,363 1,521,984
. Net movement in property and equipment (251,573) (1,870,497)
P Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 2,015,799
b Addition to leasehold property (4,827,103) (9,938,042)
Cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiary 6 - 196,513
& Consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary 6 - (4,756,185)
‘ Proceeds from sale of a subsidiary 12 2,005,610- -
Investment properties - (106,563)
e Net movement in investment in associates and joint ventures i5 748,150 1,556,806
? Dividend received from associates 13 2,410,094 7,253,871
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities 3,064,675 (3,191,472)

Tty e

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

KD KD
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Movement in Islamic finance payables (1,043,739 5,991,879
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest (2,627,703 (6,944,494)
Issue of share by a subsidiary - -
Finance cost paid (3,827,640) (3,749,172)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (7,499,032) (4,701,787)

3 Foreign currency translation adjustment (479,670) 258,639

NET INCREASE IN BANK BALANCES AND CASH 103,562 17,652,372
Bank balances and cash as at 1 January 43,518,142 25,865,770
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT 31 DECEMBER 43,621,704 43,518,142

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed), (the “Parent Company”} and its
Subsidiaries (together the “Group”) were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Parent Company’s
board of directors on 22 August 2017 and are subject to the approval of the General Assembly of the shareholders’ of the
Parent Company. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated
financial statements.

The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti Shareholding Closed Company incorporated on 20 November 1975 and registered
in the State of Kuwait. The registered office is at Floor 46, Arraya Tower 2, Sharg, Abdulaziz Al-Sager Street, P.O.
Box 24100, Safat 13101, Kuwait,

The objectives of the Parent Company inside and outside the State of Kuwait are as follows:

» Managing financial funds and portfolios for its own account or third party’s account, considering the
diversification of the contents of the portfolios and other guidelines and rules established for well-managed
financial investments and the foreign exchange dealings they necessitate.

*  Dealing in shares, bonds and other securities and taking legally authorized actions regarding them.

*  Undertaking activities for managing finance operations and bonds for third party’s account as well as participating
in the management and exchange of these bonds,

e Undertaking finance leasing activities.

*  Acting as a broker in finance operations and the finance of investment and trade operations.

*  Providing various types of finance to third party, complying with safety rules and maintaining a continuous sound
financial position of the company in accordance with the conditions, rules and limits established by the Central
Bank of Kuwait (“CBK"),

* Investing in commercial and production sectors in the industrial, agriculture fields among others either by direct
investments, participation in existing companies or by incorporation of new companies.

*  Providing technical and administrative services for projects, preparing economic feasibility studies, surveying
opportunities of establishing new projects and providing financial consultations on the restructuring of the
financial conditions of companies as well as the proposal, finance and implementation of such restructuring.

The Parent Company is regulated by CBK for financing activities and by Capital Market Authority (“CMA™) as an
investment company. All activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shari’a as approved by the Parent
Company’s Fatwa and Shari*a Supervisory Board.

The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Kuwait Finance House K.$.C.P. (the “Ultimate Parent Company” or “KFH"”)
by holding 52.864% of its equity. KFH is an Islamic bank registered with CBK and its shares are listed on Kuwait
Stock Exchange (“KSE™).

The new Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 issued on 24 January 2016 and published in the Official Gazette on 1 February
2016 cancelled the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, and its amendments. According to article No. 3, the new Law will
be effective retrospectively from 26 November 2012, The new executive regulations of Law No.1 of 2016 issued on 12
July 2016 and published in the official Gazette on 17 July 2016 cancelled the executive regulations of Law No. 25 of
2012,

11



Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

2 FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPT

During the year, the Group has incurred a loss of KD 21,530,730 (2015: profit of KD 1,035,920) and as at that date, the
Group has accumulated losses of KD 18,192,697 (2015: KD 5,732,519) which exceeds 75% of paid up share capital
(including share premium) (Note 19). Further subsequent to the year end, the Parent Company could not honour the
principal payment of Islamic finance payable that was due on 9 February 2017 and sought for the renewal of the facility
from the lenders. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the above facts, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the going concern
concept as the management of the Parent Company has initiated certain actions, as follows, to meet the obligations, when
they fall due.

a)  On 29 May 2017, the Parent Company has renewed the Islamic finance payable amounting to KD 197 million .in
two tranches i.e KD 158 million renewed for 1 year maturing on 9 February 2018 and KD 39 million which has
seniority in accordance with Master murabaha agreement will be renewed on monthly basis. Further, the renewal
of Islamic finance payable give an opportunity to the Parent Company to negotiate and conclude the terms ongoing
restructuring of the Islamic finance payable with banks and financial institutions.

b)  The revenues from hotel, real estate development and other operations have increased over the years and the
management of the Parent Company is expecting to have these operational cash flows continued in future years.
Further the Group has commenced operation of a new hotel in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia during the current year
and this would generate additional operational cash flows to the Group.

¢)  The management of the Parent Company has constituted task groups to actively manage and generate cash flows
from the assets of the Group to ensure Group’s obligations are met, as they fall due. Subsequent to year end the
Parent Company has entered into an agreement to sell a group of assets (Note 7).

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on implementation of the restructuring plan,
continued support from the main shareholders and lenders and future profitability.

Had the going concern basis not been used, adjustments would be made relating to the recoverability of recorded asset
amounts, or to the amounts of liabilities to reflect the fact the Group may be required to realise its assets and extinguish
its liabilities other than in the normal course of business, at amounts different from those stated in the consolidated
financial statements.

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the State of Kuwait
for financial services institutions regulated by the CBK. These regulations require adoption of all International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) except for the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 requirement for a
collective provision, which has been replaced by the CBK’s requirement for a minimum general provision as described
under the accounting policy for impairment of financial assets.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss, certain financial assets available for sale, investment properties and
leasehold properties that have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is also the functional currency of
the Parent Company.

12
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Arefl Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

3.2 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used
in the previous financial year, except for the adoption of the following amendments to the existing standards relevant to
the Group, effective as of | January 2016,

Amendments to JAS 16 and I4S 38 : Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that
revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is a
part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to
amortise intangible assets. The amendments are applied prospectively and do not have any impact on the Group, given
that it has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments

clarify:

. The materiality requirements in IAS 1

. That specific line items in the statement(s) of income and other comprehensive income and the  statement
of financial position may be disaggregated

. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements

. That the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity

method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or
will not be subsequently reclassified to statement of income.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statements of income and other comprehensive income. These améndments do
not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

IAS 19 Emplovee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which
the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located, When there is no deep market
for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. This amendment is applied
prospectively. This amendment did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Servicing contracts

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a
financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing
invoivement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of which servicing
contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the required disclosures need not
be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

New and revised IASB Standards, but not yet effective
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
listed below. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments:

The IASB issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments in its final form in July 2014 and is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after I January 2018 with a permission to early adopt. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing
and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non- financial assets. This standard
replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The adoption of this standard will have an
effect on the classification and measurement of Group's financial assets but is not expected to have a significant impact
on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The Group is in the process of quantifying the impact of
this standard on the consolidated financial statements, when adopted.

13
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Aref Investment Group S.A K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

32 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

New and revised IASB Standards, but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with customers

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, effective for periods beginning on
1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 15 defines principles for recognising revenue and will be
applicable to all contracts with customers. However, interest and fee income integral to financial instruments and
leases will continue to fall cutside the scope of IFRS 15 and will be regulated by the other applicable standards {e.g.,
IFRS 9, and IFRS 16 Leases),

Revenue under IFRS 15 will need to be recognised as goods and services are transferred, to the extent that the transferor
anticipates enfitlement to goods and services. The standard will also specify a comprehensive set of disclosure
requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash
flows with customers.

The Group does not anticipate early adopting IFRS 15 and is currently evaluating its impact on the Group,

IFRS 16 Leases

The IASB issued the néw standard for accounting for leases - [FRS 16 Leases in January 2016. The new standard does
not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recoghise most leases
on their balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right- of-use assets. Lessees must apply a single
model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘short-term’ leases and leases of ‘fow-value’
assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar to today’s finance lease
accounting, with interest and depreciation expense recognised separately in the consolidated statement of income.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted provided
the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date. Lessees must adopt IFRS 16 using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group does not anticipate early adopting IFRS 16 and is in
the process of evaluating the effect of IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to I4S 12 Income Taxes

In January 2016, through issuing amendments to IAS 12, the [ASB clarified the accounting treatment of deferred tax
assets of debt instruments measured at fair value for accounting, but measured at cost for tax purposes. The amendment
is effective from 1 January 2017. The Group does not anticipate material impact on the consolidated financial
statements as all the debt nstruments of the Group are measured at amortised cost.

33 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries
(investees which are controlied by the Group) (collectively the “Group”) as at 31 December 2016. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if
the Group has:

+ Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee)

*  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

»  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

*  The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
*  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
*  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

14
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

33 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group re-assesses at each reporting date whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
Parent Company of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests represent the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries not attributable
directly, or indirectly, to the equity holders of the Parent Company. Equity and net income attributable to non-
controlling interests are shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest

Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained

Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities

* & o o & o »

3.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiil

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are
expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions
as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded swaps and profit rate contracts in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement of income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in the consolidated statement of income or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is remeasured until it is finally settied
within equity.

15



Aref Investment Group S.A K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

3.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill {(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed off, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed off'is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed off in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values
of the operation disposed off and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received, excluding discounts and rebates. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in all of its
revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude, and is also
exposed to inventory and credit risks.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

Contract revenue

Revenue and profits from long-term contracts are calculated in accordance with the percentage of completion method
of accounting. Such contracts generally extend for periods in excess of one year. Under this method the amount of
revenue and profit from construction contracts is measured by reference to the percentage of actual costs incurred to
date to the estimated total costs for each contract applied to the estimated contract profit, and reduced by the proportion
of profit previously recognised. Profit is only recognised when the contract reaches a point where the ultimate profit
can be estimated with reasonable certainty. During the early stages of a contract, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable; hence no profit is recognised. Claims and variation
orders are only included in the determination of contract profit when negotiations have reached an advanced stage
such that it is probable they will be approved by contract owners and can be reliably measured. Anticipated losses on
coniracts are recognised in full as soon as they become foreseen.

Airline revenues
Revenues from passenger and cargo sales are recognised as operating revenues when transportation services are
provided. The value of tickets sold but not utilised is classified as advances received.

Rendering of services
Revenue from service contracts is recognized on the percentage of completion method.

Revenue from sale of real estate development projects
Revenue from sale of real estate development projects is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the real estate passes to the buyer and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Islamic finance income

Income from Murabaha and Jjarah is recognized on a weighted time apportionment basis.

Hotel revenue income
Revenue represents the rental income and the invoiced value of goods and services provided by the Group from the
hospitality services.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right {o receive payment is established.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016 :

34 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Fee income

Fee carned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
management fees, consultancy fees and promotion fees. Fee income is recognised when specific services are rendered.

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the period in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the KFAS’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve
should be excluded from profit for the period when determining the contribution.

Taxation

Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries
Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is provided in accordance with fiscal regulations applicable to each country of
operation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 as “financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss” “Islamic finance receivables”, “accounts receivable” and “financial assets avajlable for sale”. The Group
determines the classification of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition. Financial assets are initially
recognised at the date the Group becomes a party to the contract.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Purchase or sale of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset,

The Group’s financial assets include bank balances and cash, Islamic finance receivables, accounts receivable and
other assets, financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets available for sale.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets carried af fuir value through profit or loss
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at their initial recognition date and only if
the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied. Dividend income is recorded in the consolidated statement of income when
right to receive has been established.

Islamic finance receivables
Islamic finance receivables are financial assets originated by the Group and principally comprise Murabaha and Ijarah
receivables. These are stated at amortised cost, using the effective profit rate method, less impairment losses, if any.

Murabaha is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate sale of an asset at cost plus an agreed profit.
The amount due is settled on a deferred payment basis.

Ljara is a lease agreement between the Group and customers.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continred)
Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Accounts receivable include trade accounts receivable which are stated at original imvoice amount less a
provision for any uncollectible amount. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when recovery of the full amount is no
longer probable. Bad debts are written off when there is no possibility of recovery.

Financial assets available for sale

Financial assets available for sale include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category (i.e. sukouk) are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for lquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial measurement, financial assets available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, or determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative loss is reclassified to the consolidated statement of income. Financial assets available for sale
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its financial assets available for sale in the near term is
still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intention to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial
assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet the
definition of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable
future or until maturity. Reclassification to the held to maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the
ability and intention to hold the financial asset accordingly.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available for sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on the asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to consolidated income statement over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate method. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over
the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate method. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the consolidated statement of incorme.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

. The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset,

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that thé Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Aref Investment Group S.A. K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Agat 31 December 2016

34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities comprises of Murabaha, Istisna’s and accounts payable and other liabilities and are measured at
amortised cost. The Group determines the classification of its financial Habilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial labilities depends on their classification as follows:

Murabaha payable

Murabaha payable represents the amount payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased under murabaha
arrangements. Murabaha payable is stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred profit payable, Profit payable
is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking account of the profit rate attributable and the balance outstanding.

Istisnaa payable

Istisnaa is a sale contract between a contract owner and a contractor whereby the contractor based on an order from the
contract owner undertakes to manufacture or otherwise acquire the subject matter of the contract according to
specifications, and sells it to the contract owner for an agreed upon price and method of settlement whether that be in
advance, by instalments or deferred to a specific future date.

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the
supplier or not.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated staternent of financial position
if, and only if enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amount and there is currently intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the Hability takes place either:

+ In the principal market for the asset or liability, or -
* In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continned)

All assets and labilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

. Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

. Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For financial instraments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices.
Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of investments in mutual funds,
unit trusts or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment,
discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the
current market rate of return for similar financial instruments.

For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be determined, the investment
is carried at cost.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above,

Impairment of financial assets

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial
asset may be impaired. A financial asset or a Group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financia}
asset or the Group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the borrower or a Group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
profit or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
economic conditions that correlate with defaults. If such evidence exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Impairment is determined as follows:

¢ for assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value;

¢  for assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is based on estimated cash flows discounted at the original
effective profit rate and;

»  for assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between actual cost and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset,

For non-equity financial assets the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement, If, in a subsequent year, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. For
available for sale equity financial assets, the investment is written down and subsequent increases are reflected as
cumulative changes in fair value through other comprehensive income.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

34 SUMMARY OT SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
In accordance with CBK instructions, a minimum general provision on all finance facilities, net of certain categories
of collateral to which CBK instructions are applicable and not subject to specific provision, is made.

In addition, a provision is made to cover impairment for specific group of assets where there is a measurable decrease
in estimated future cash flows,

Impairment of Financial assets available for sale
For financial assets available for sale, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is to be evaluated against the original
cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
Where there is an evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the consolidated
statement of income is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated statement of
income. Impairment loss on equity investments is not reversed through the consolidated statement of income; increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Inventories and real estate development projects

Inventories and real estate development projects are stated af the lower of weighted average cost and net realisable
value. Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each product / property to its present location and condition. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion and
disposal.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at
the inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Group as lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the
leased item, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of profit on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in the consolidated income statement, Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over
the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term, less any accumulated impainment, Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight line basis over the lease
term.

When a capitalised leased asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount arising on revaluation is credited under
revaluation reserve in other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same
asset previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income, in which case the increase is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, except 1o
the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the revaluation reserve.

Anannual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based on the original cost of the assets. Additionally,
accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
amount is restated to the revatued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular
asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying cost includes the cost of
replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and
excludes the cost of day to day servicing of investment property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property is carried at fair value that is determined based on valuation
performed by independent valuators periodically using valuation methods consistent with the nature and usage of the
investment property. Gains or losses from change in the fair value are recognised in the consolidated statement of
income. However, in case of investment properties whose fair value cannot be reliably measured the same are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment, if any. The Group obtains fair valuation of investment properties from two
independent, accredited real estate valuators and consider the lower of two valuations as the fair value of the investment
properties for recording in the consolidated financial statements.

Investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed off or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal. Gains or losses on the
disposal of investment properties determined as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying value
of the asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change
in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Investment in associates and joint ventures

An agsociate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in its associates and joint venture are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint
venture since the acquisition date. Losses in excess of the cost of the investment in associates or joint ventures are
recognised when the Group has incurred obligations on its behalf. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individuaily tested for impairment.

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint
venture. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in other
comprehensive income.
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3.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Distributions received from an associate or joint venture reduce the carrying value of the investment. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent
of the interest in the associate.

The Group’s share of profit of an associate or joint venture is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of
income. This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate or joint venture and therefore is profit after tax
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associates or joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group,
using consistent accounting policies.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on the Group’s investment in its associates or joint venture, The Group determines at each reporting date whether there
is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share of results of associate and joint venture’ in the
consolidated statement of income.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint veniure upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and/or impairment losses, if any. When assets
are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or foss
resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other property and equipment is computed on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives as follows:

e Buildings 12-50 years

s Aircraft and engines 20 years (residual value 27%)
¢ Furniture and fixtures 2-7 years

¢ Heavy equipment 4-10 years

Depreciation on separately identified significant components of aircraft is computed based on actual usage over the
life of these components. Major overhaul expenditure is depreciated over the shorter of the period to the next major
overhaul or lease term or useful life of the asset concerned.

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of depreciation
are consistent with the expected patternt of economic benefits arising from items of property and equipment.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed
the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair
value less costs to sell and their value in use.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property and equipment that is accounted for separately is
capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off, Other subsequent expenditure is
capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property and equipment and leasehold
property. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of income as the expense is incurred.
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34 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification,

In the consolidated statement of income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of the previous year,
income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from continuing
activities, down to the level of profit, even when the Group retains a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the
sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group conducts internal reviews annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that,
the intangible assets and property and equipment are impaired, If any indication of impairment exists an estimate of
the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. An asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of an asset’s
cash-generating units fair value less costs to sell or its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Groups of assets.

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and an impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated statement of income and the asset is written down to its recoverable amount,
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in consolidated income statement in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount, That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment losses recognised in relation to goodwill are
not reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amounts,

Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group and not
yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the
weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in the equity. When the treasury shares
are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, “treasury shares reserve”, which is not distributable.
Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess
losses are charged to retained eamings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory reserve. Gains realised subsequently
on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained
earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock
dividend increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without
affecting the total cost of treasury shares,
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34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Foreign currency translation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is also the Parent Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by Group entities at their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction,

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to
Kuwaiti Dinars at the foreign exchange rates prevailing at the dates that the values were determined. In case of non-
monetary assets whose change in fair values are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, foreign exchange differences are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and for non-monetary assets whose change in fair value are recognised in the consolidated statement of income are
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Group companies

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the reporting date and their income statement is translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income,

On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the consolidated statement of income,

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the cartying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive)} as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is viriually
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in consolidated statement of income, net of any
reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost,

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employees' end of service benefits

The Group provides employees’ end of service benefits to all its employees in accordance with Labour Law applicable
to each country of operation and policy approved by the company. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued
over the period of employment,

With respect to its Kuwaiti employees, the Group makes contributions to Public Institutions for Social Security as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed
when due,

Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets or liabilities of the Group and accordingly are not
inciuded in the consclidated financial statements.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable,

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the
future periods.

The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows:

Classification of financial instruments
Judgments are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at acquisition.

Classification of real estate and leasehold properties
Management decides on acquisition of real estate whether it should be classified as trading propetty, property held for
development, ieasehold property or investment property.

The management classifies real estate as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The management classifies real estate as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of
development.

The management classifies real estate as investment property or leasehold property if it is acquired to generate rental
income or for capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Structured entities

The Group uses judgment in determining which entities are structured entities. If the voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding wha controls the entity and such voting rights relate to the administrative tasks only
and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements, the Group identifies such entities as
structured entities. After determining whether an entity is a structured entity, the Parent Company determines whether
it needs to consolidate this entity based on the consolidation principles of IFRS 10,

Fair values of assets and liabilities including intangible assets

Considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of the fair value of the assets including intangible
assets with definite and indefinite useful life, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired as a result of business
combination,

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow
model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possibie, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as
liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value
of financial instruments.

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments require significant
estimation.

Valuation of investment properties and leasehold property under development

For investment properties and leasehold properties fair value is determined by independent, registered, real estate
valuators or by reference to recent transactions in similar properties. As per the Group’s policy two independent real
estate valuations are obtained to assess fair values as at the reporting date. For investment properties and leasehold
properties, for which there is a lack of comparable market data because of the nature of the properties, valuation
methodologies based on a discounted cash flow modef and terminal value model is used. Investment property held for
capital appreciation is valued by reference to market-based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific
market factors such as nature, location and condition of the property.,

The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of leasehold properties and investment properties is further
explained in Note 11 and 14.

Impairment of leasehold properties

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication or objective evidence of impairment or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. If any such
indication or evidence exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment of financial assets available for sale

For financial assets available for sale, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a Group of investments is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its
cost. The determination of what is 'significant' or 'prolonged' requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements and the duration or extent to which the fair value of
an investment is less than its cost.
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34  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Impairment losses of accounts receivable

An estimate of the collectible amount of receivables is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable,
For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis, Amounts which are not
individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length
of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

Useful lives of property and equipment

Management assigns useful lives and residual values to property and equipment based on the intended use of assets
and the economic lives of those assets. Subsequent changes in circumstances such as technological advances or
prospective utilisation of the assets concerned could result in the actual useful lives or residual values differing from
initial estimates. Valuations are performed frequently to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount.

Estimated cost and profit on uncompleted contracts

Revenue from installation contracts is measured by reference to the percentage of costs incurred to the estimated total
costs for each contract applied to the estimated contract revenue, and reduced by the proportion of revenue previously
recognised. This requires the management to use judgement in the estimation of the total cost expected to complete
each contract. Profit on uncompleted contracts is only recognised when the contract reaches a point where the vltimate
profit can be estimated with reasonable certainty. This requires the Group’s management to determine the level at
which reasonable estimates can be reached.

4 OPERATING REVENUES AND COSTS

2016 2015
KD KD
Operating Revenues
Hotel revenue 33,304,234 26,028,901
Revenue on sale of real estate development projects 3,833,603 4,365,063
Airline revenue 112,890 621,818
37,250,733 31,015,782
Operating Costs
Hotel operating cost * 36,743,560 23,692,962
Cost of sale of real estate development projects 2,108,863 2,806,818
Airline cost . 224,132 216,870

39,076,555 26,716,650

* Hotel operating cost includes amortisation of leasehold property amounting to KD 13,761,043 (2015: 9,599,875)
(Note 11).

5 NET PROVISIONS (WRITE BACK) OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
2016 2015
Kb KD
Impairment on leasehold property (Note 11) 5,210,923 3,498,912
Provision (write off) on accounts receivable and other assets ‘ 393,912 (1,144,312)
Impairment of financial assets available for sale (Note 13) 834,102 494,733

Impairment of investment in associates and joint venture (Note 7 and Note 15) 2,322,704 422,626
Write back of provision no longer required - (1,314,026}

8,761,641 . 1,957,933
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6 BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the prior year, one of the subsidiaries of the Group, Munshaat Real Estate Project Company K.S.C.P
(“Munshaat”), acquired additional equity interest in Al Qeblah I'V (previously accounted as an investment in associate)
for a cash consideration of USD 22,500,000 (equivalent to KD 6,808,050) resulting in the increase of its equity interest
from 37.11% to 62.11%. As a result, the entity became a subsidiary of the Group and was consolidated from the date
of exercise of control.

The business combination of Al Qeblah JV was achieved in stages and accordingly, the Group recognized a net gain
on business combination of KD 439,168 in the consolidated statement of income of previous year as follows:

Kb
Loss on acquisition (8,843,681)
Gain on settlement of pre-existing transaction between the Group and the acquire 9,282,849

Net gain on business combination 439,168

7 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

On 13 December 2016 the Board of Directors of the Parent Company committed to sell two of it associates (Note 15)
and assigned right of financial assets in republic of Sudan. Further subsequent to the year end, on 16 May 2017, the
Parent Company has entered into a conditional sale agreement with third party to sell these investments in associates
and right of financial assets in republic of Sudan for a total sell consideration of USD 60 million approximately KD
18,391,800. Both parties are committed to execute the deal within the time frame stipulated in the agreement.
Therefore, the Parent Company has reclassified these assets, as disposal group held for sale in accordance with the
requirement of IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“IFRS 5”) and carried these
assets at lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell and recorded an impairment loss of KD 2,322,704,

Further, the foreign currency translation reserve of KD 827,515 relating to the above associates has been transferred to
“reserve of disposal group held for sale”,

8 GAIN FROM EXTINGUISHMENT OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
One of the subsidiaries of the Group had signed a settlement agreement with the developer of Zamzam Tower and
upon the payment of final instalment, the Group recorded a gain of KD 3,752,978 in the consolidated statement of

income for the year ended 31 December 2015,

9 TAXATION

2016 2015
KD KD
Contribution to KFAS (a) - -
Zakat (b) - -
Overseas taxation (¢) 1,761,630 1,545,191
1,761,630 1,545,191

a. The Parent Company calculated the contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)
at 1% in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which
states that income from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve
should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution. Accordingly, there was no income
base upon which the contribution to KFAS could be calculated for the year ended 31 December 2016.

29



Aref Investment Group S.A K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

9

b.

10

TAXATION (continued)

The Parent Company calculated the Zakat in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007.
Asg per law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends which are subjected to Zakat have been
deducted from the profit for the year. Accordingly, there was no income base upon which the Zakat could be
calculated for the year ended 31 December 2016,

Taxation includes overseas taxation for the year ended 31 December 2016 of which KD 1,822,311 (2015
KD 1,351,738) represents the Zakat and withholding tax arising from the operations of the Group from projects
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. (Note 17).

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS AND INVENTORIES

During 2012, one of the subsidiaries of the Group, Sukouk Holding Company K.S.C.P (“Sukouk™) acquired a
trading property at its fair value of KD 1,500,022 in lieu of settlement of a wakala receivable from the botrower.
The title of this property was transferred to the Subsidiary as on that date. However subsequent to acquisition, the
management of Sukouk became aware that there is an ongoing lawsuit between the borrower and a third party in
relation to ownership of this property, Consequently, any transfer of the title of this property is subject to final
outcome of the ongoing lawsuit. The trial is currently in process in the court of law and therefore it is not practical
to assess the final outcome of the court judgment. Accordingly, no provision has been recognised in the
consclidated financial statements.

During the current year, a draft expropriation decree has been published in the Official Gazette by the Moroccan
State on 21 September 2016 relating to a real estate property owned by a subsidiary of the Group, AREF Real
Estate Projects S.A.R.L., with a carrying value of KD 5,449,483 as of 31 December 2016, located in M'diq City
Morocco, According to the draft expropriation decree, this property along with other properties in the same area
might be taken over by the Moroccan state for development of the second part of M'diq City. This properiy is
classified as real estate development projects in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The transfer of the ownership of this property is subject to completion of legal procedures of promulgation related
to the expropriation decree followed by two procedures for the purpose of transferring the ownership and
determining the compensation by the expropriator. The amount of compensation shall be determined as per the
value of the property as on the date of expropriation decree issuance. However, no legal procedures of
promulgation related to the expropriation decree has been initiated other than the draft expropriation decree
published in the Official Gazette. Accordingly, no adjustment has been made to the carrying value of the property
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The trading properties of the Group are carried at lower of cost or net realisable value. The net realisable value
has been determined based on the lower of two valuations obtained from external real estate appraisers with
relevant experience in the market where the property is located. The assessment of the net realisable values of
trading propetties has been carried out based on comparable market values for similar properties considering the
rental value, maintenance status, market knowledge and historical transactions.
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11 LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES

As at 1 January
Additions

Acquired through a business combination

Revaluation

Amortisation for the year

Impairment loss charged to income statement (Note 5)
Foreign currency translation adjustment

As at 31 December

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January
Charge for the year

As at 31 December

2016 2015
KD KD
207,191,009 172,047,004
4,827,103 9,938,042

- 37,534,515
1,930,191 370,652
(13,761,043) (9,599,875)
(8,210,923) (3,498,912)
423,353 399,583
195,399,600 207,191,009
26,648,263 17,048,388
13,761,043 9,599,875
40,409,306 26,648,263

Leasehold properties comprise of Zam Zam Tower and Qeblah Tower. Both these properties are located in Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia and are amortised over a period of useful life of the leasehold.

The fair value of leasehold properties have been determined based on lower of the two valuations obtained from
independent, registered real estate valuators in the location of leasehold properties. Based on the fair valuation,
management has recognised an impairment loss of KD 5,210,923 (December 2015 KD 3,498,912) (Note 5). The fair
value is determined on the existing use basis by using a valuation technique described below and has been categorised
as level 3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation technique used. The following are the primary inputs have been

used.

Type of property

a. Zam Zam Tower,
Kingdom of Saudi

b. Qeblah Tower,
Kingdom of Saudi

e Hotel

Valuation
technique

Discounted
Cash

Flow method
(“DCF! !)

Discounted

Cash

Flow method

(“DCF”)

Significant unobservable inputs

Estimated Average room
rate in Saudi Rivals (SAR)
Long term Rev PAR* Growth
Ocoupancy rate

Discount rate

Inflation rate
Gross operating profit

Estimated Average room
rate in Saudi Riyals (SAR)
Long term Rev PAR
growth*

Occupancy rate

Discount rate

Inflation rate
Gross operating profit

Range (weighted average)

2016

906 - 1,019
72%-2.9%

78.44% - 82.7%

11%
3%

51,3%-52.6%

562 -843

3.5%-10.5%

66% - 71%
11.5%
3.5%

38% - T0%

2015

859 -1,036
9.9% -3.8%

79.2% - 85.1%

11%
3%

47.7%-52.T%

620-380

2.4%-16.9%

61%-71%
12%
3.5%

49% - 77%
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11 LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES (confinued)

s Shopping center Discounted
Cash
Flow method  Estimated yearly rent in SAR
(“DCF™) per square metre 6,500 6,500

Occupancy rate 65%-95% 65%-95%

Discount rate 11.65%

* RevPar : Revenue Per Available Room
Sensitivity analysis

The table below presents the sensitivity of the valuation to changes by 5% in the most significant assumptions
underlying the valuation of the leasehold properties.

Changes in the Impact on other comprehensive
valiation assumption income for the year
2016 2015
KD KD
Leasehold properties . +/-5% 9,769,985 10,359,550
12 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS
2016 2015
KD KD
Trade and other receivables 13,991,868 18,073,717
Amount due from related parties (Note 22) 7,623,074 6,142,649
Other assets* 405,471 1,258,145
Prepaid operating lease ** 2,042,250 2,430,300
Receivable against sale of investments (Note 13) 3,498,606 3,605,436
27,561,269 31,510,247

* During the prior year, the Parent Company had entered into an agreement to sell its 81.25% shareholding in one of
the subsidiary, Al Hambra Town Faisalabad (Private) Limited (incorporated in Pakistan). Accordingly, the carrying value
of the subsidiary of KD 1,150,486 was classified as asset held for sale and included in other assets, net of advance
received up to 31 December 2015. During the current year, the Parent Company received the balance consideration,
aggregating the total consideration received of KD 2,005,610 and recorded a gain of KD 855,124 in the consolidated
statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2016.

**During the current year, the Group has performed the fair valuation of prepaid operating lease and recorded a decline
of KD 388,050 (2015: increase of KD 1,207,830) with corresponding effect in revaluation reserve in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

2016 2015

KD KD
Unguoted equity securities 9,312,942 10,407,455
Managed funds (unquoted) 2,351,803 3,400,524

11,664,745 13,807,979

As at 31 December 2016, financial assets available for sale (unquoted managed funds) amounting to KD 1,148,329 (2015;
KID 1,907,010) were carried at cost as the nature of these investments is such that a reasonable estimate of fair value can
only be determined when the individual investments are realised or disposed. Management has performed a review of its
unquoted equity investments to assess whether impairment has ocourred in the value of these investments.
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE (continued)

Based on the latest available financial information, management is of the view that no additional impairment provision is
required as at 31 December 2016 in respect of these investments other than the impairment loss of KD 834,102 (2015:
KD 494,733) (Note 5) recorded in the consolidated income statement,

Income from financial assets available for sale includes KD 1,784,962 (2015: KD 1,128,005) that represents amount
against sale of equity interest in Sudan Airways in prior years, of which XD 1,784,962 (2015; KD Nil) was collected
subsequently to the year end and prior to approval of this consolidated financial statement for issuance. The amount has
been included in accounts receivable and other assets (Note 12).

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2016 2015

KD KD
Asat | January 55,267,493 55,990,088
Additions - 113,268
Disposal - (6,706)
Change in fair values (2,283,634) (2,095,292)
Foreign exchange adjustment (200,781 1,266,133
As at 31 December 52,783,078 55,267,493

The fair values of these properties are based on external valuations by accredited independent valuators registered
valuator in the location of the investment properties. The valuation techniques used and key inputs are disclosed below.

Investment properties with a carrying value of KD 16,210,000 (2015: KD 16,762,000) are mortgaged against certain
Islamic finance payables amounting to K 8,863,608 (2015: KD 8,920,786) (Note 17).

Income from investment properties in the consolidated statement of income includes the following:

2016 2015
Kb KD
Net rental income 3,435,598 2,491,120
Change in fair values (2,283,634) (2,095,292)
1,151,964 395,828

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for investment properties are as follows:

At 31 December 2016:

Total Level 3
Kb KD
Land in Lebanon ‘ 25,644,405 25,644,405
Land in Kuwait 10,550,000 10,550,000
Building in Kuwait 5,660,000 5,660,000
Building in United Kingdom 2,591,088 2,591,088
Building in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 8,337,585 8,337,585
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 December 2015:

Total Level 3

KD KD
Land in Lebanon 26,769,549 26,769,545
Land in Kuwait 10,550,000 10,550,600
Building in Kuwait 6,212,000 6,212,000
Building in United Kingdom 2,905,854 2,905,854
Building in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 8,830,090 8,830,090

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment properties are as follows:-

Discounted Cash

Valuation Significant unobservable
Type of property technique inputs Range (weighted average)
2016 2015
. Market .
Land in Lebanon . Price per square meter $-731-$750 $-770-$780
comparison
1 Land in Kuwait Market Price per square meter KD 4,000 — KD 4,000 -
comparison KD 4,200 KD 4,300
- . . . Estimated Market price For
Building in Kuwait Yield method land (Per SQM) KD 1,693 KD 1,817
Market Construstion Cost (SQM ) KD 128 KD 133
comparison
Average monthly rent
Cost approach KD 4 KD 4
P (SQM)
Yield Rate 8% 7.6%
Occupancy rate 106.00% 100.00%
GBP 883-943  GBP §83-943

BKuiﬁdIC&gr;n United Flow Method Average rent per i}:g;:;]nent/ per E}:rﬁ:lenb’
. & (DCEF)
Occupancy rate 100% 100%
Discount Rate 6.5% 6.5%
Average Apartment Value GBP 170 -288  GBP 195 - 204
psf psf
£ Bakkah Tower in Discounted Cast
Kingdom of Saudi ;Flow ?\fe tho ds ' The fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow method,
Arabia (DCF) using contractually fixed cash flows and discount rate of 13%

(2015:13%).

*RevPAR = Revenue per Available Room.

- Under market comparison approach, fair value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The market cornparison

g approach is based upon the principal of substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay more for the property

than it will cost to buy a comparable substitute property. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price per
square metre (‘sqm’).

-
§
i
b
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Under the DCF method, fair value is estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership
over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value, if any. This methed involves the projection of a series of cash
flows on a real estate property interest. To this projected cash flow series, a market-derived discount rate is applied to
establish the present value of the income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately
determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The appropriate duration is typically
driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of real estate property. Periodic cash flow is typically
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance
cost, agent and commission costs and other operating and management expenses, The series of periodic net operating
income, along with an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, if any, is then
discounted.

Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value and rent growth per annum in isolation would result in a
significantly higher (fower) fair value of the properties. Significant increases (decreases) in long-term vacancy rate
and discount rate (and exit vield) in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value.

Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is accompanied by:

¢ A directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and discount rate (and exit yield)
e  An opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.

15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

2016 2015

KD KD
Opening balance 49,851,170 52,831,579
Additions - 38,645
Capital redemption / disposals (748,150} (1,595,452}
Transfer to disposal group held for sale (Note 7) (18,391,800} -
Share of results of associates . (1,270,199) 4,250,988
Dividends received (2,410,094) {7,253,871)
Hyperinflation adjustment on associate (refer Note (b) below) 6,029,602 2,220,006
Foreign currency translation adjustment {1,263,006) (441,282)
Impairment losses (Note 5 and Note 7) (2,322,704) (422,626)
Cumulative change in fair value recognised directly in other comprehensive

income 45,913 223,183

29,520,732 49,851,170

The carrying amount of investment in associates and joint ventures includes goodwill of KID NIL after impairment and
foreign currency adjustment (2015: KD 1,092,926).

Details of principal investment in associates and joint ventures are as follows:
Effective equity interest

Name of the entity Country t{f 2016 2015
Incorporation
% %

Financial Institutions

United Capital Bank (UCB) {refer note (b) below) * 40,02 40.02
Halic Financial Kiralama A.S. - 40.00
Mawared United Investment Company X.8.C. (Mawared) 21.29 21.29
Real Estate

Wafra / Aref Re Equity Company Limited (Note (a) below) 50.00 50.60
Wafra/Aref International Value-added real estate Fund I 2535 25.35
Napa EI Hamra for Touristic Development 50.00 50.00
Al Mehbrab Real Estate Company K.S.C. (Closed) (Mehrab) 42.29 42.29
Aref Euro Real Estate 3.A.S {Aref Euro) (Note (a) below) 50.00 50.00
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES {continued)
Effective equity interest

Name of the entity Country of 2016 2015

Incorporation Yo %
Real estate (continued)
Florida Group of Construction 35.00 35.00
Logistic
American Higher Education Development Corporation C.I 84.05 84.05

Limited (AHED) (Note (a) below) ’ ’

Maritime Tanker and Shipping Company K.8.C (Closed) 29,00 29.00
Gulf Africa Holding Company K.S.C (Closed) (GAH) 50.00 56.00
Sudan River Transport Company (SRTC) (refer note (b) below) 34,13 34.13
Nile River Transport Company (NRTC) (refer note (b) below) * 50,00 50.00
Eastern Networks BV] 31.24 31.24
Prolific Systems and Technologies Pvt. Lid. 42.98 45.00
Grand Lake Co. for Fishing (S.AK.) 25.00 25.00
Marmarah for Investment Counselling and Trading Company 25.00 25.00
Jiaxing World Education Holding Company Ltd. 21.30 21.30
Synergy Corporation Consulting Company K.S.C.C. 22.42 22.42

* These associates have been included in disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2016 (Note 7).

(a)

(b)

These entities are jointly controfled by the Parent Company and the third party. Hence, it is concluded that the Group
investment in these entities is a joint arrangement in accordance with IFRS 11 and accounted for as a joint venture
using equity method under IFRS 11 and TAS 28.

The Group had assessed Sudanese economy as hyperinflationary economy in accordance with requirements of IAS
29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“IAS 29”), Hence, it has been accounted in accordance
with requirements of IAS 29. The financial statements of investee companies (classified as investment in
associates) namely UCB, NRTC and SRTC whose functional currency is Sudanese Pounds have been adjusted at
the Group level for inflation, prior to their translation to Kuwaiti Dinars for equity accounting. For the purpose
of indexation, the Group has used the Consumer Price Index (CPI).

The net impact from the restatement of statement of financial position items as at 31 December 2015 by restating
it to the purchasing power as at 31 December 2016 is a gain of KD 6,029,602 (2015: KD 2,220,0086). This amount
has been recorded as ‘Hyperinflation adjustment’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2016 and disclosed under “Foreign currency translation reserve” in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity with a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of investment in associates.

Thereafter, the net impact from the restatement to bring the balances, noted above, and the transactions recorded
in the current year’s consolidated income statement to the current purchasing power, representing the net
monetary loss, of KD 3,051,845 (2015: KD 1,430,416) has been adjusted against the share of results of associates
in the consolidated statement of income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016,
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18 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The movement in non-monetary assets and liabilities due to hyperinflation is summarised as follows

31 December 2016 ucs SRTC NRTC Total
KD KD KD KD
Property, plant and equipment 2,538,344 450,691 4,331,579 7,360,614
Investment in associates - 745,336 - 745,336
Investment securities 1,637,269 - - 1,637,269
Monetary loss in the income statement (1,973,360) (188,524) (853,772) (3,015,656)
2,202,253 1,047,503 3,477,807 6,727,563
Impact in the statement of change in equity 8,991,341 1,139,620 4,084,630 14,215,591
Impact in the income statement (6,789,089 {92,118) (606,824} (7,488,031)
2,202,252 1,047,502 3,477,806 6,727,560
Group’s % of ownership 40.02% 34.13% 50.00% -
Impact on Group’s consolidated statement
of comprehensive income 3,598,335 388,952 2,042,315 6,029,602
Impact on Group’s consolidated income
statement (2,716,993) (31,440 (303,412) (3,051,845)
31 December 2015 Uce SRTC NRIC Total
KD KD KD KD
Property, plant and equipment 827,568 365,604 1,830,079 3,023,251
Investment in associates (49,790) (281,577 - (331,367)
Investment securities 638,977 - - 638,977
Monetary loss in the income statement {1,135,839) (147.268) (432,135 (1,715,242}
280,916 (63,241) 1,397,944 1,615,619
Impact in the statement of change in equity 3,355,028 51,043 1,719,806 5,125,877
Impact in the income statement (3,074,112} (114,284) (321,862)  (3,510,258)
280,916 (63,241) 1,397,944 1,615,619
Group’s % of ownership 40.02% 34.13% 50.00% -
Impact on Group’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 1,342,682 17,421 859,903 2,220,006
Impact on Group’s consolidated income
statement (1,230,480) (39,005) (160,931} (1,430,416)
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ag at 31 December 2016

16 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment mainly includes land and building in the State of Kuwait amounting to XD 33,472,789 (2015:
KD 33,110,3%89) representing a hotel Jocated in the State of Kuwait, Certain property and equipment are pledged against
Islamic finance payable (Note 16). Cumulative borrowing costs amounting to KD 3,916,007 (2015: KID 3,916,007} has
been capitalised in the carrying value of land and buildings in the State of Kuivait.

During the previcus year one of the Group subsidiary in Egypt has sold a land for a consideration of KB 1,849,848 and
recognised a gain of KD 866,903 and included under gain on sale of property and equipment.

17 ISLAMIC FINANCE PAYABLES

The average profit rate of Islamic finance payables, currency wise, is as follows:
Profit rate per annum

2016 2015 2016 2015
Currency % % KD KD
Kuwaiti Dinar 1% - 6% 1% - 6% 255,243,157 254,594 814
Others 3% -13.8% 3%-13.8% - 92,438

255,243,157 254,687,252

Islamic finance payables equivalent to KD 8,863,608 {2015: KD 8,920,786) is secured against investment properties
amounting to KD 16,210,000 (2015: KD 16,762,000} (Note 13} and KD 22,850,000 (2015: KD 23,909,279} is secured
by property and equipment with a carrying value of KD 34,768,667 (2015: KD 35,476,534).

Of the total Islamic finance payables, KD 197,495,734 (2015: KD 197,490,371) represents the outstanding Murabaha
payables to syndicate of banks and financial institutions {(“consortium lenders”) of the parent company as at 31
December 2016, The key terms of the Murabaha agreement are as follows:

- The facility is secured by a first mortgage on all assets of the Parent Company.

- In case the value of the secured assets falls below 75% of the outstanding facility amount (at any stage) the Parent
Company may be required to pledge additional security.

- The valuation exercise shall be carried out once every year.

- The facility shall attract a profit payment at discount rates applicable for Kuwaiii Dinar as fixed by the CBK on the
appropriate dates as increased by a pre agreed margin.

- The facility imposes certain conditions in terms of disposal of assets, dividend distribution by the Parent Company
and use of the proceeds of its divestments of any of its assets or realisation of its receivables. It also imposes
conditions on the Parent Company to disclose information about its operations and financial position periodicaily.

- Parent Company cannot make any acquisition of, or investment in, any asseis or shares other than acquisitions or
investments made in the ordinary course of business of the Group provided that the purchaser can meet certain
conditions as set forth in the murabaha agreement.

- Parent Company cannot materially change the general nature of business.

- Other than in the ordinary course of business, Parent Companty will not provide indemnity, guarantee or counter
indemnity to any third party other than within its Group without the prior written consent of the participants.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

18 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

2016 2015

KD KD
Trade payables 1,012,937 3,826,703
Staff related provisions 2,526,968 2,842,471
Due to related parties (Note 22) 7,563,731 6,708,755
Advances received against real estate development project 3,006,871 8,744,131
Payable to contractors for leasehold property and investment properties 6,009,041 2,621,948
Provision against payment to development authority 7,281,035 6,822,096
Due to leasehold property manager and maintenance contractor 13,198,005 16,246,664
Tax liability (refer note below) 16,771,100 13,973,542
Other payables 5,872,617 7,866,840
63,242,305 69,653,150

On § January 2016, one of the subsidiaries of the Group, Munshaat, received a demand notice for SAR 1,891 million
(equivalent to KD 153 millior) from General Authority of Zakat and Tax (“GAZT”), Kingdom of Saudi Arabia for the
years 2003 to 2013 and claimed Capital gains tax, corporate income tax, withholding tax and penalties (“tax claim™). In
addition, GAZT has also claimed penalties for failure to register, non-submissicn of declarations and the consequential
delay penalties at the rate of 1% for every thirty days delay on the settlement of income tax and withholding tax
calculated as of the due date and till the payment date. The tax claim covers the fransactions of properties owned and /
or managed by Munshaat that includes Zamzam, Bakkah and Mehrab towers in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The management of Munshaat believes that the tax claim do not reflect the correct application of tax laws in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the correct nature of the operations of Munshaat and also the underlying numbers used in
the computation of tax claim are significantly different from the actual results of operations.

Further, the management of Munshaat has appointed a tax consultant in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to review the tax
claim and file an objection letter with GAZT. Accordingly, the tax consultant has filed an objection letter dated 2 March
2016 with GAZT primarily covering the Capital gains tax on the transfer of leasing rights, tax on the lease contracts of
Bakkah and Mehrab towers, deemed revenue from the operations of Zamzam tower and the penalties on delays, non-
filing, non-registration and evasion of tax.

The management of the Parent company, based on the advice from a tax consultant, has computed the estimated impact
of the aforesaid tax claim at the Group level for the year ended 31 December 2016 and recorded a tax liability of KD
14,548 428 {(2015: KD 11,588,643} in the consolidated statement of financial position with a charge of KD 1,822,311
(2015: XD 1,351,738) in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016. The balance KD
1,280,715 (2015: KD 1,674,693) has been recorded as receivable from affiliate entities that were also subjected in the
tax claim (Note 22). However, as on the date of these consolidated financial statements there is a significant uncertainty
as to the cutcome of the tax claim. The provision recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the year represents
the best estimate of the tax liability that may arise from the tax claim.

19  SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital comprises 228,859,370 shares (2015: 228,859,370 shares) of 100 fils
each, paid in cash.

As at 31 December 2016, the accumulated losses of the Group have exceeded 75% of the paid up share capital of the
Parent Company. In order to comply with the Commercial Companies Law of 2018, as amended, the Board of Directors
of the Parent Company have proposed to offset the accumulated losses to the extent of balance in statutory reserve.

This proposal to offset the accumulated losses as at 31 December 2016 is subject to the approval of the Regulatory
Authorities and the approval of the extra ordinary General Assembly of the shareholders® of the Parent Company.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2016

29 STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year
before contribution to KFAS, Zakat and directors fees is required io be transferred to statutory reserve. The Parent
Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of paid up share capital. During
the year, no transfer has been made to the statutory reserve since the Group incurred loss for the year and has accumulated
losses.

Distribution of the reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid-up share
capital to be made in years when accumulated profits are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount.

21 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(1)  At31 December 2016, the Group had no commitment on capital expenditures related to financial assets available for
sale, real estate development projects, investment in subsidiaries and property and equipment. (2015 KD 4,942,060)
extending beyond one accounting period. The amount of capital commitment may be reduced by participation of
other investors.

(if) During the prior year, the contractor of one of the properties of the Group in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has claimed
a penalty of SAR 501 million: (equivalent to KD 41 million) from one of the subsidiaries of the Group, Munshaat
Real Estate Project Company K.S.C P (“Munshaat") for the delay in the execution of the project and various other
related costs. Munshaat has counter claimed an amount of SAR 627 million (equivalent to XD 51 million) against
the same conftractor for the delay in handing over the project and operational losses, The dispute has been referred to
Saudi Arbitration Committee and as on the date of these consolidated financial statements, the trial is in progress and
the management of the Munshaat, based on the advice from the legal counsel representing the Munshaat in the
aforesaid arbitration, believes that the outcome of the arbitration ruling will be in favour of the Munshaat and also
the counter claim filed by the Munshaat on the developer is higher than the amount claimed by the developer.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2016, the Group has not made any provision against this ¢laim in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2016

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The principle subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Directly held

Real estate

ZamZam 2013 JV

Munsha’at Real Estate Projects Co. K.S.C. (Closed) (“Munshaat™)
Sokouk Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) (“Sokouk™)

Lamar Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) (“Lamar™)

Athman Gulf for General Trading and Contracting Company
Qitaf Joint Venture (“Qitaf”)

Aref Real Estate Company K.8.C. (Closed)

Al Hambra Town Faisalabad (Private) Limited (incorporated in Pakistan) (Note 11)

AREF Real Estate Projects S.A.R.L. (incorporated in Morocco) (Note $)
Aref Morocean Value Added Investment Company S.A.R.L (incorporated in
Moroceo)
Aref Moroccan Real Estate Projects Co. S.A.R.L (incorporated in Morocco)
Aref Real Estate Company S.A.R.L (incorporated in Merocco)
Aref Real Estate Development Company S.A.R.L (incorporated in Morocco)
Aref Moreccan Real Estate Company S.A.R.L (incorporated in Morocceo)
Aref Moroccan Investment Co. S.AR.L.
Aref Moroccan Real Estate Development Company S.A.R.L (incorporated in
Morocco)
Fera Investment Group (Holding) $.A L. (incorporated in

L ebanon) (“Fera™)

Logistics
Rubban Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed} (“Rubban™)

Others

Rakayya Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) (“Rakayya™)
Aref Ahlea Trading company W.L.L

Aref Mushtraka Trading Company W.L.L

Athman Ahlea Trading company W.L.L

Athman Mushtraka Trading Company W.L.L
Technology World Company K.8.C

Aladaa Holding Company K.8.C

Effective equity interest as at

31 December

2016 2015
76.22% 76.22%
52.91% 52.91%
50.17% 50.17%
98.87% 08.87%
83.75% 85.75%
45.56% 45.56%
99.99% 99.99%
- 81.25%
70.80% 70.80%
85.40% 85.40%
100.00% 100.00%
100.00% 100.00%
100.00% 100.00%
80.00% 80.00%
100.00% 100.00%
100.00% 1060.00%
100.00% 100.00%
99.99% 99.99%
99.99% 99.96%
99.99% 99.99%
99.99%, 99.99%
09.99% 99.99%
99.99% 09,99%
99.75% 99,75%
99.99% 99,99%
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Effective equity interest

as at
31 December
2016 2015
Held through Lamar
Mena for Agriculture Projects L.L.C. (incorporated in Egypt) 95.00% 95.00%
Mena City Center S.A.E. (incorporated in Egypt) 98.00+% 98.00%
Mena Resorts S.AE. (incorporated in Egypt) 99.86% 66.66%
Mena for Touristic Development & Investment $.AE. (incorporated in Egypt) 99.80% 99.80%
Fl Mastia Project Managerment 64.69% 64.69%
Mena Touristic & Real Estate Investment Company E.S.C, (incorporated in Egypt) 50.58% 50.58%
Asia Human Capital Holding Company Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong) 100.00% 100.00%
Asia Vocational Training Company (incorporated in Mauritius) 100.00% 100.00%
SOS Company for Recruitment of Human Resources W.L.L 99,99% 95.99%
Qualitas Consulting and Training Company K.8.C.C 99.99% 99.99%
Universal Knowledge Solution — UKS- FZ LLC (incorporated in United Arab Emirates) 100.00%  100.00%
Universal Knowledge Solution — SAIL- (UKS) (incorporated in Lebanon) 100.00% 100.00%
Human Dimensions Company for General Trading and Contracting W.L.L. 99.99% 99.99%
Held through Munshaat
Munshaat for Projects and Contracting Company W.L.L 100.00% 99.99%
MAS Holding Company K.S.C. (Closed) 60.00% 60.00%
Al Safwa joint venture 40.00% 40.00%
MAS International General Trading and Contracting Company W.L.L. 98.00% 98.00%
MAS International Egypt W.1L.L, 100.00% 100.00%
MAS Al Oula W.L.L. 99.50% 99.50%
Al Qeblah IV (Note 7) 62.11% 62.11%
Held through Sokeuk
Guif Real Estate Development House Co. K.8.C (Closed) 75.00% 75.00%
Sokouk Investment Advisory Co. 100.00% 99.99%
Soukouk Real estate Co.- K.S.C (Closed) 96.52% 96.52%
Gulf Money House For Money Collection W.L.L. 99.00% 99.00%
Held through Rubban
Aref Marine Tanker Company K.S8.C. (Closed) 99.99% 99.69%
Rubban Airways Company Limited (incorporated in Saudi Arabia) 80.00% 80.00%
Held through TWC
Incube General Trading Company W.L.L. 99.99% 69.99%
Held through Fera
Amchit Beach Hotel S.A.L (incorporated in Lebanon) 100.00% 100.00%
Amchit Beach Club S.A.L (incorporated in Lebanon) 100.00%  100.00%
Amchit Beach Resort §. AL (incorporated in Lebanon) 100.00%  100.00%
Real Estate SPVs
Gotts Holdings Ltd, 87.00% 87.00%
Emarati Holdings Ltd. 51.00% 51.00%
Duncan Tract Holdings Ltd. 95.00% 95.00%
Hiliard Tract Holdings Ltd. 96.80% 96.80%
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

All subsidiaries are incorporated in Kuwait except otherwise stated. All the SPV’s are incorporated in Island of
Guernsey. Each SPV has a wholly owned subsidiary in Guernsey (that is beneficially held by the SPV) in which the
real estate asset and related debt are held.

The shares in SPVs and certain subsidiaries are held in the name of nominees on behalf of the Parent Company. The
nominees have confirmed in writing that the Parent Company is the beneficial owner of the shares. Further, certain

subsidiaries of the Group have been consolidated based on contractual rights.

Key management personnel compensation

2016 2015

KD KD
Salaries and short-term employee benefits 1,488,069 1,709,927
Termination benefits 118,297 181,856

1,606,366 1,891,783

23 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

The management of the Group has concluded that following subsidiaries (as mentioned in the table below) which
have non-conirolling interests are material to the Group. Financial information of thess subsidiaries as of 31 December
2016 and 31 Pecember 2015 is provided below:

Non-controlling interests to the Group

Munshaat Sokouk Zamam Lamar
KD KD KD KD

31 December 2016

Accumulated balances 27,529,814 33,876,732 41,278,258 436,937
{Loss) profit atiributable (5,581,229) (3,168,338) (246,037) 440,039
31 December 2015

Accumulated balances 33,620,249 38,182,826 42,809,901 2,120,697
Profit attributable 079,954 11,676 650,139 172,190

The summarised financial information is provided below. This information is based on amounts before inter-
company eliminations.

Summarized income statement of the material partly-owned subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December:

2016 Munshaat Sokouk ZamZam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
Income 10,056,283 1,817,134 22,477,041 3,382,501
Expenses (19,924,763) {8,075,325) (23,490,218) (3,163,2106)
(L.oss) profit for the year (9,868,480) (6,858,191) (1,013,177) 219,285
Total comprehensive (loss) income {9,805,223) (6,774,315) 931,225 219,285
Attributable to non-controlling interssts (2,385,566) {112,633) - 190,968
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Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2016

23 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

2015

Income
Expenses

Profit (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income (foss)

Attributable to non-controfling interests

Munshaat Sokouk Zamiam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
5,714,843 250,816 23,675,042 3,388,950
(5,551,492} (1,247,763} (22,876,475) (3,874,281)

163,351 {996,947) 798,567 (485,331)
1,697,863 (682,730) 1,478,424 (485,331)
(771,012) {232,627) - 193,364

Summarised statement of financial position of the material partly-owned subsidiaries as at 31 December:

2016

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

2015

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

Munshaat Sokouk ZamZam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
149,008,212 105,566,794 142,138,174 10,365,366
(75,244,262 (32,894,868) (26,729,938) (63,162,109)
73,823,950 72,671,926 115,408,236 (52,796,743)
73,074,457 71,600,015 115,408,236 (53,840,077)
749,493 1,671,911 - 1,049,334
73,823,950 72,671,926 115,408,236 (52,796,743)
Munshaat Sokouk ZamZam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
168,578,046 113,095,859 150,088,593 21,033,703
(84,948,873} (33,649,618) (17,245,457) (70,847,971)
83,629,173 79,446,241 132,843,136 (49,314,266)
80,494,114 78,261,697 132,843,136 (51,934,963}
3,135,059 1,184,544 - 2,120,697
79,446,241 132,843,134 (49,814,266)

83,629,173

Summarised cash flow information of the material partly-owned subsidiaries for year ended 31 December:

2016

Operating
Investing
Financing

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash

equivalents

Munshaat Sokouk Zamzam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
(19,609,727) 984,915 16,853,601 (715,961)
13,199,547 960,768 (388,327) 281,250
(198,038) {2,370,003) (10,147,767) 65,906
{0,608,218) (424,320) 6,317,507 (368,805)
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23 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

2015 Munshaat Sokoulk Zamzam Lamar
KD KD KD KD
Operating 1,062,459 1,365,757 5,183,030 (252,693)
Investing {2,979.377) (1,664,982} (386,696) 1,327,645
Financing 2,601,287 1,419,742 - (276,880)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 684,369 1,120,517 4,796,334 728,072

24  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values except for certain
financial assets available for sale carried at cost less impairment (Note 12). Fair vatue disclosure for non-financial

instrurnents are disclosed in the respective notes.

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities,

31 December 2016 Total Level 1 Level 3
Kb KD KD
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets af fair value through profit or loss 4,569,703 4,569,703 -
Financial assets available for sale
Unquoted securities 9,312,942 - 9,312,942
Managed funds (unquoted) 1,203,474 - 1,203,474
15,086,119 4,569,703 10,516,416
31 December 2015 Total Level 1 Level 3
KD KD KD
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at faiv value through profit or loss 3,907,584 3,907,584 -
Financial assets available for sale :
Unquoted securities 10,407.455 - 10,407,455
Managed funds (unquoted) 1,493,514 - 1,493,514
15,808,553 3,907,584 11,900,969

During the year, there have been no transfers between the fair value hierarchies.

The impact on the consolidated statement of financial position or the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity
would be immaterial if the relevant risk variables used to fair value the unquoted securities were altered by 3%,
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24 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial instruments
which are recorded at fair value,

Loss Gain recovded in
recorded in the  consolidated
At consolidated statement of At
I January income comprehensive  Sales and 31 December
31 December 2016 2016 statement income settlements 2016
KD KD KD KD KD
Financial assets available for sale:
Unquoted securities 10,407,455 (652,721) 624,922 (1,066,714) 9,312,942
Managed funds (unquoted) 1,493,514 {181,381) - (108,659) 1,203,474
11,900,969 (834,102) 024,922 (1,175,373) 10,516,416
Gain recorded in
Loss consolidated
At recorded in the  statement of At
Idanuary  consolidated — comprehensive  Sales and 31 Decenmber
31 December 2015 2015 income statement income settlements 2015
KD KD KD KD KD
Financial assets available for sale:
Unguoted securities 10,863,871 (211,443 41,396 (286,369} 10,407,455
Managed funds (unquoted) 1,850,508 (283.290) 35,225 (108,929) 1,493,514
12,714,379 (494,733) 76,621 (395,298) 11,900,969

25  MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities, The maturities of assets and liabilities
have been determined based on contractual maturity except for real estate development projects and inventories, leasehold

. property, account receivables and other assets, financial assets carried at fair value through income statement, financial assets

available for sale, investment properties, other assets, investment in associates, property and equipment and other liabilities
which are based on management’s estimate of liquidation / settlement of those financial assets / liabilities.

The maturity profile of assets and labilities at 31 December are as follows:

31 December 2016 Upto3 412 Over

: months months I year Total
ASSETS KD KD KD Kb
Cash and bank balances 43,621,704 - - 43,621,704
Real estate development projects and inventories 1,047,021 3,356,280 11,728,757 16,132,058
Leasehold property - - 195,399,690 195,399,690
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,489,975 9,073,138 13,998,156 27,561,269
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 4,479,591 90,112 4,569,703
Financial assets available for sale - - 11,664,745 11,664,745
Investment properties - - 52,783,078 52,783,078
Investment in associates - 160,492 29,360,240 29,520,732
Property and equipment - - 34,967,794 34,967,794
Disposal group held for sale - 18,391,800 18,391,800
Total assets 49,158,700 35,461,301 349,992,572 434,612,573
LIABILITIES
Islamic finance payables 7,861,507 198,399,026 48,982,624 255,243,157
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18,336,803 21,537,990 23,367,512 63,242,305
Total liabilities 26,198,316 219,937,016 72,350,136 318,485,462
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25 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES {continued)

31 December 2015
ASSETS

Cash and bank balances

Real estate development projects and inventories
Leasehold property

Accounts receivable and other assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial asseis available for sale

Investment properties

Investment in associates

Property and equipment

Total assets

TIABILITIES
Islamic finance payables
Accounts payable and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments

Uptol 412 Over
months months I year Total
KD KD KD KD
43,518,142 - - 43,518,142
543,682 3,204,571 16,536,169 20,284,422
- - 207,191,609 207,191,009
6,146,451 9,902,273 15,461,523 31,510,247
- 3,817472 90,112 3,907,584
- - 13,807,979 13,807,979
- - 55,267,493 55,267,493
- 433,242 49,417,928 49,851,170
- - 36,999,973 36,999,975
50,208,275 17,357,558 394,772,188 462,338,021
201,762,977 12,897,934 40,026,341 254,687,252
10,447,973 13,930,630 45,274,547 69,653,150
212,210,950 26,828,564 85,300,888 324,340,402
- 4,942,060 - 4,942,060
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical
to the Group’s continuing profitability.

Each subsidiary of the Group is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Board Commitiees,
including Audit and Executive Committees in addition to other management Committees such as Credit /
Investment Committee and Asset Liability Committee (ALCQ), or equivalent, with responsibilities generally
analogous to the Group's committees,

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,
technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process. The Board of
Directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies
and principles,

Monitoring and controliing risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Group. These limits
reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Group as well as the level of risk that the Group is
willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected geographic and industrial sectors, In addition, the Group
monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk
types and activities.

The Group classifies the risks faced as part of #s monitoring and controfling activities into certain categories of
risks and accordingly specific responsibilities have been given to various officers for the identification,
measurement, control and reporting of these identified categories of risks. The categories of risks are:

A Risks arising from financial instraments:

i Credit risk which includes default risk of clients and counterparties

it. Liquidity risk

iil, Market risk which includes profit rate, foreign exchange and equity price risks
iv, Prepayment risk

B. Other risk - Operational risk which includes risks due to operational failures

Market risk arises as profit rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices fluctuate affecting the value of a contract.
For risk management purposes and to control these activities, the Group has established appropriate procedures
and limits approved by the Board of Directors.

26.1 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. Financial assets subject to credit risk consist principally of bank balances, Islamic
finance receivables, trade receivables and certain other assets. The Group’s bank balances are placed with financial
institutions having high credit ratings. Islamic finance receivables are presented net of impairment losses. The Group
manages credit risk by setting limits for individual borrowers and Group of borrowers and for geographical and
industry segments. The Group also monitors credit exposures and coutinually assesses the creditworthiness of
counterparties.

Gross maximum exposure fo credit visk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amount of these instruments. Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, it represents the
current maximum credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result
of changes in values.

The Group’s policy is to grant Islamic finance receivables to customers after assessing their credit worthiness,
Customers with high credit worthiness are granted murabaha without any coliateral. Collateral is taken from other
customers except from Group companies (for which the management does not believe to have any significant credit
risk exposure). Short term murabzha and other asset balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result
that the Group’s exposure to credit risk is not significant,

51



Aref Investment Group S.A.K. (Closed) and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

26.1 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Gross maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the financial assets, without taking account of any
collateral and other credit enhancements. The maximurm exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements, if any.

2016 2015

KD KD
Bank balances 43,594,684 43,477,801
Accounts receivable and other assets 25,213,307 28,865,634
. Gross maximum credit risk exposure before credit risk mitigation 68,807,991 72,343,435

The exposures set above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

While granting Islamic finance, management analyses the financial strength and credit worthiness of the counter
parties and where necessary obtains security in the form of quoted shares, unquoted shares and real estate properties.
Facilities granted to affiliated companies are unsecured.

Management monitoss the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral, if required. The Group has
a right to sell the collateral in case of default by the borrower in accordance with the agreements entered with the
borrowers, The Group has an obligation to return the collateral on the settlement of the Islamic finance receivables,

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure lo credit risk

Concentration arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the
same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate
the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic
location.

The Group’s credit risk bearing assets before taking into account any collateral held or credit enhancements can be
analysed by the geographical regions and industry wise sector as follows:

2016 2015
KD KD
Geographic region:
Kuwait 44,189,714 42,978,441
Rest of Middle East and North Africa 19,623,973 25,104,780
Europe 2,494,871 1,083,901
Others 2,499,433 3,176,313

68,807,901 72,343,435

2016 2015
KD KD
Industry sector:
Banks and financial institutions 45,350,200 45,235,294
Construction and real estate 20,083,200 25,663,362
Other 3,374,591 1,444,779

68,807,991 72,343,435
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
26.1 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit visk (continued)
Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Group’s assets to any single counterparty. This risk
is managed by diversification of the portfolio.

Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor intpaived
Neither internal credit grading system nor external credit grades are used by the Group.

Analysis of financial assets past due but not impaired
As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group had no financial assets that were past due but not
impaired.

26.2 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments. The Group manages this risk by active cash flow management and undrawn limits with
banks and financial institutions and generation of funds from its operations.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
repayment obligations:

31 December 2016 Within 3to 12 lto)
3 months months years Total
KD KD KD KD
Islamic finance payables 7,895,205 205,383,280 42,146,515 255,425,000
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18,336,803 21,537,990 23,367,512 63,242,305
TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,232,008 226,921,270 65,514,027 318,667,305
31 December 2015 Within 31012 lwi
3 months months years Total
KD KD KD KD
Islamic finance payables 6,281,347 211,653,476 44,999,245 262,934,068
Accounts payable and other liabilities 10,447,973 14,011,606 45,193,571 69,653,150
TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,729,320 225,665,082 90,192,816 332,587,218

26.3 MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment or its issuer or factors affecting all financial
assets traded in the market,

Market risk is managed on the basis of pre-determined asset allocations across various asset categories,
diversification of assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration, a continuous appraisal of
market cenditions and trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value,

26.3.1 Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates of Islamic financial instruments will affect
future profitability of the Group. Profit rate risk is managed by the treasury department of the Parent Company.
The Group is exposed to profit rate risk as a result of mismatches of profit rate re-pricing of assets and liabilities
on fleating rate Islamic financial assets and Islamic financial liabilities .that could have a material impact on the
Group's profit before taxes.
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
26,3 MARKET RISK (continued)

26.3.1 Profit rate risk (continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated income statement to a reasonably possible
change in profit rates, with all other variables held constant.

The sensitivity of the consolidated income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in profit rates on the
Group’s consolidated profit for one year, based on the profit bearing financial assets and financial liabilities held
at 31 December.

Based on the Group’s financial assets and liabilities held at the year end, an assumed 25 basis points increase in
profit rate, with all other variables held constant, would impact the Group’s results before taxation as follows:

Increase of 25 basis points

Currency Effect on the results before taxation
2016 2015
Kb KD

KD 638,108 635,376

The decrease in the basis points will have a favourable impact on the results before taxation. Also, as there are no
profits bearing financial assets available for sale, no sensitivity of other comprehensive income has been disclosed.

26.3.2 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.

The management monitors on a regular basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The effect on result before tax (due to change in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and on equity, as
a resuit of change in currency rate, with all other variables held constant is shown below:

Inerease in currency rate by 5 %

Effect on other

comprelensive income Effect on results before tax

2016 2015 2016 2015

KD KD KD KD
United State Dollar 1,392,282 1,346,537 1,720,106 709,722
Pound Sterling 174,336 - 182,007 (151)
Euro 57,416 . - 77,408 208
Moroccan Dinar 538,555 (9,985) (6,265) 81
Sudanese Pounds 1,068,684 1,036,341 219,343 228,425
Saudi Riyal : - - 120,201 -

26.3.3 Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual stocks. The equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment
portfolio. The Group manages the risk by focusing on the long term holding of equity assets, keeping its exposure
at an acceptable level and by continuously monitoring the markets.

The effect on the resulis of the Group due to a change in the fair value of financial assets carried at fair value through
income statement at 31 December 2016 due to a 5% change in regional market indices, with all other variables
held constant is KD 228 485 (2015: KD 195379).
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264 PREPAYMENT RISK

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay
or request repayment eartier than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rate fall. The fixed rate
assets of the Group are not significant compared to the total assets. Moreover, other market conditions causing
prepayment is not significant in the markets in which the Group operates. Therefore, the Group considers the effect
of prepayment on Islamic finance income is not material after taking in to account the effect of any prepayment
penalties.

26.5 OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from the failures in operational process, people and system that supports
operational processes. The Group has a set of policies and procedures, which are approved by the Board of
Directors and are applied to identify, assess and supervise operational rigk in addition to other types ofrisks
relating to the banking and financial activities of the Group. Operational risk is managed by Risk management.
Risk management ensures compliance with policies and procedures to identify, assess, supervise and monitor
operational risk as part of overall Group risk management,

27 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares,

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years end 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015,

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is total
debt divided by total equity. The Group includes within total debt profit bearing murabaha payables and Accounts
payable and other liabilities. The Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio in the range 2 to 4 times of shareholder’s
equity.

2016 2015

KD KD
Profit bearing Islamic finance payables 255,243,157 254,687,252
Accounts payable and other liabilities 63,242,308 69,653,150
Total debt 318,485,462 324,340,402
Total equity 116,127,113 137,997,619
Gearing ratic 2.74 2.35
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